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)

COMPLAINT


Plaintiffs Bridgette Feemster and Sabrina Lymore, by and through undersigned counsel, file this Complaint against BSA Limited Partnership and allege as follows:

INTRODUCTION


1. 
Although Defendant, BSA Limited Partnership (“Defendant”), is withdrawing its rental property from the federal project-based Section 8 rental subsidy program, Plaintiffs are legally entitled to remain in their homes and use a rental voucher to pay the rent.  Defendant, however, is refusing to accept the Plaintiffs’ vouchers, thereby violating federal and local law and threatening the Plaintiffs with homelessness.

2. 
This is an action seeking declaratory and injunctive relief, and damages to prevent the Plaintiffs, Bridgette Feemster and Sabrina Lymore, from losing their homes; enjoin the Defendant’s interference with the Plaintiffs’ right to remain in their units under terms substantially similar to those regulating their tenancies prior to October 1, 2004; enjoin the Defendant from refusing to accept the Plaintiffs’ rental vouchers; and compensate the Plaintiffs for violations of their rights. 

3. 
Plaintiff Bridgette Feemster (“Plaintiff Feemster” or “Ms. Feemster”) is a resident of a townhouse at 75 Bates Street, NW in Washington, DC.  Plaintiff Sabrina Lymore (“Plaintiff Lymore” or “Ms. Lymore”) is a resident of a townhouse at 77 P Street, NW in Washington, D.C.  They reside in townhouses that are a part of a group of 37 townhouses, or apartments within townhouses, known as the “Bates Street Townhomes.” As a group, Bates Street Townhomes receive a rental subsidy from the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) known as “project-based Section 8.”  The Defendant, owner of the Bates Street Townhomes, is in the process of terminating the Bates Street Townhomes’ status as a project-based Section 8 development.  As part of the termination of the project-based Section 8 subsidy at the Bates Street Townhomes, Ms. Feemster and Ms. Lymore were entitled to and did receive a tenant-based subsidy, known as an enhanced voucher (“voucher”).  

4.  
As articulated in applicable law, the vouchers may be used in one of two ways: either to subsidize rental of a home outside of the former property or to subsidize the same home if the tenant chooses to remain and the home continues to be offered as rental property.  (To differentiate between the two different uses of the enhanced voucher, some refer to the enhanced voucher when it is used outside the former property as a “regular voucher,” but continue to refer to the voucher used in the existing home as an “enhanced voucher.” Both uses of the voucher, however, are authorized by the enhanced voucher statute at 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t).)  

5.
Defendant BSA Limited Partnership (“Defendant”) continues to offer the Bates Street Townhomes as rental property.  Defendant has refused to accept Ms. Feemster’s and Ms. Lymore’s vouchers.  As a result, Ms. Feemster and Ms. Lymore face imminent danger of losing their homes because of the Defendant’s illegal actions.

JURISDICTION

6.
This Court has jurisdiction over the claims against the Defendant pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).


7.
The Court has original jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims that arise under the United States Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1437 et seq. as amended; the National Housing Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1701 et seq.; and the Multifamily Assisted Housing Reform and Affordability Act of 1997 as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 1437f note (Multifamily Housing Assistance).  

8.
Plaintiff’s cause of action for declaratory relief and further necessary or proper relief is authorized by 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202, and Rules 57 and 65 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

9. 
The Court has pendent or supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ state statutory claims under the District of Columbia Human Rights Act, D.C. Code § 2-1401.01 et. seq. and the District of Columbia Consumer Protection Procedures Act, D.C. Code §§ 28-3901 et seq.  as these claims are derived from a nucleus of facts common to the federal claims, i.e. Defendant’s conduct in refusing to accept Plaintiffs’ vouchers, and would be expected to be resolved in one judicial proceeding.  

10.
Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because a substantial part of the events giving rise to this action occurred in this district.

PARTIES

11.
Plaintiff Bridgette Feemster has been a tenant at 75 Bates Street, NW since 1999. Throughout her tenancy, Ms. Feemster participated in the project-based rent subsidy program administered by HUD.

12.
Plaintiff Sabrina Lymore has been a tenant at 77 P Street, NW since 1993.  Throughout her tenancy, Ms. Lymore participated in the project-based rent subsidy program administered by HUD.

13.
Defendant BSA Limited Partnership is the owner of the real property known as the Bates Street Townhouses.  Upon information and belief, BSA Limited Partnership has its place of business at 1025 Connecticut Avenue, NW, Suite 405, Washington, DC, 20036.

STATUTORY FRAMEWORK

Federal Claims

14. 
In 1974, “[f]or the purpose of aiding low-income families in obtaining a decent place to live and of promoting economically mixed housing,” 42 U.S.C. 
§ 1437f(a), Congress enacted the rental assistance programs, known popularly as “Section 8,” in order to “realiz[e] as soon as feasible [] the goal of a decent home and suitable living environment for every American family.”  42 U.S.C §§ 1441, 1441(a); 12 U.S.C. § 1701t.  

15.
 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1Section 8 of the United States Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. § 1437f, has authorized over the years a number of different subprograms.  At issue here is the program of providing federal rental assistance to private landlords on behalf of low-income families, which has two basic forms: “project-based” Section 8 assistance in which the subsidy is attached to the structure and “portable” or “tenant-based” voucher assistance in which the subsidy moves with the tenant. See 42 U.S.C. § 1437f.  The tenant-based program is administered by a local entity known as a “public housing authority” or “PHA.” 24 C.F.R. § 982.1.


16.
In a project-based Section 8 program, the landlord of the project and the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) enter into a renewable Housing Assistance Payments (“HAP”) contract wherein HUD agrees to provide assistance payments to the owner on behalf of the tenant.  Under the HAP contract, the tenant participant in the program pays 30% of his or her adjusted income towards the rent and the difference between the tenant rent and the maximum approved contract rent for the unit is paid by HUD. See 24 C.F.R. Part 880.


17.
The Multifamily Assisted Housing Reform and Affordability Act of 1997 (MAHRAA), Title V of the HUD Fiscal Year 1998 Appropriations Act, Pub.L. 105-65, was enacted on October 27, 1997.  MAHRAA established new policies for the renewal and non-renewal of Section 8 project-based contracts.


18.
Recognizing that an owner may decline to renew a project-based Section 8 HAP contract at the expiration of its term and thereby affect the supply of low-income affordable rental housing, Congress required project owners deciding to leave or “opt out” of the Section 8 program to give notice of not less than one year to tenants affected by the opt out. See 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(c)(8)(A) (amended 1998). 


19.
To afford further protection to tenants affected by the lawful termination of expiring project-based Section 8 contracts, Congress in 1999 amended MAHRAA to provide that “the Secretary shall make enhanced voucher assistance under section 8(t) of the United States Housing Act of 1937 (42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t)) available on behalf of each low-income family who, upon the date of such expiration, is residing in an assisted dwelling unit in the covered project.”  Pub. L. No. 106-74, § 531, 113 Stat. 1047, 1113 (1999) (emphasis added).  The vouchers were called “enhanced vouchers” because they are designed to cover any lawful increases in rent above the rent ceiling set by the local public housing authority for its regular voucher program. See 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t).


20.
On December 29, 1999, HUD issued Notice H 99-36, in which it stated that “the FY 2000 Appropriations Act enables the Department to make enhanced vouchers available to limit the displacement of families living in an assisted unit when an Owner elects to opt out of the Section 8 project-based program.  Residents may elect to remain in their units when issued an enhanced voucher as a result of an opt out.” See HUD Notice H 99-36.  


21.
Congress acted to clarify that the enhanced voucher statute granted families residing in project-based Section 8 units at the time of opt out the right to remain in their current homes. See 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t), as amended by Public L. No. 106-246, Sec. 2801 (7/13/00) (HR 4425, FY 2001 Military Construction and FY 2000 Emergency Supplemental Appropriations Act.).


22. 
On January 19, 2001, HUD issued the Section 8 Renewal Policy Guide (“Policy Guide”), which superseded HUD Notice H 99-36.  This Policy Guide reiterates the requirement set forth in HUD Notice H 99-36 and states “Tenants who receive an enhanced voucher have the right to remain in their units as long as the units are offered for rental housing when issued an enhanced voucher sufficient to pay the rent charged for the unit, provided that the rent is reasonable.”  HUD, Policy Guide, Ch. 11 at 3, available at http://www.hud.gov/offices/hsg/mfh/exp/guide/s8renew.pdf.  In addition, the Policy Guide requires owners who are opting out to submit to HUD a certification that they will “comply with the requirement to allow families receiving enhanced vouchers who elect to remain to do so as long as the property remains a rental property, unless the owner has just cause for eviction” and include such compliance language in the one-year opt out notice to residents.  HUD, Policy Guide, Ch. 1 at 9; accord id., Ch. 8 at 2; id., Ch. 11, at 5 and App. 11.


23.
A tenant affected by an owner opting out of the Section 8 project-based program may use the enhanced voucher and elect to remain in his or her unit or leave and look for a residence elsewhere. See 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t)(1)(B) and (t)(1)(C).   If the tenant chooses to use the enhanced voucher to move to a new residence, the tenant will be restricted in the units he or she may rent.  The tenant may only rent units where the overall rent for the unit is equal to the rent ceiling or payment standard set by the local public housing authority (“PHA”). See 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(t)(1)(C) (referencing 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(o)).  If the tenant chooses to remain in his or her current home, the enhanced voucher is designed to cover increases in rent above the PHA payment standard.  Thus, a tenant will be able to remain in his or her home using an enhanced voucher if the rent increases above the payment standard, as long as the PHA determines that the rent is reasonable. See §§ 1437f(o)(10)(A) (reasonableness rent limitation) and (t)(1)(A) (enhanced voucher rent limitation).


24.
An owner that participates in the enhanced voucher program is required to enter into “a Housing Choice Voucher Housing Assistance Payment [(“HCVP HAP”)] contract with the local PHA on behalf of each covered family.” HUD, Policy Guide, Ch. 11 at 3.  As part of the HCVP HAP requirements, the owner must enter into a tenancy addendum that “sets forth tenancy requirements for the program and the composition of the household, as approved by the PHA.  The owner must sign the HUD tenancy addendum with the prospective tenant, and the tenant has the right to enforce the tenancy addendum against the owner.”  HUD, Housing Choice Voucher Program Guidebook 7420.10G, at 11-14.
25.
Under the National Housing Act, it is unlawful for a landlord participating in any Section 8 subsidy program to interfere with tenants’ efforts to use their rental subsidies. See 12 U.S.C. § 1715z-1(b)(2).

Pendent or Supplemental State Claims

26.
Under the District of Columbia Human Rights Act (“DCHRA”), it is “illegal to refuse, fail to initiate, or fail to conduct any transaction in real property based on source of income” and/or to discriminate by including “terms, conditions or restriction in real estate transactions based on source of income.”  D.C. Code § 2-1402.21.  Source of income includes gains from federal payments, such as Section 8 vouchers.  See D.C. Code § 42-2851.05 et seq.; see also D.C. Code § 2-1401.02.  

27.
The District of Columbia Consumer Protection Procedures Act (“DCCPPA”) prohibits “all improper trade practices” by “merchants” against “consumers” in the District of Columbia, and “shall be construed and applied liberally to promote its purpose.”  See D.C. Code § 28-3901(b)(c).  The statute defines a “consumer” as “a person who does or would purchase, lease (from), or receive consumer goods or services.”  Id. § 28-3901(a)(2).  As an adjective, “consumer” means “anything, without exception, which is primarily for personal, household, or family use.”  Id.  A “merchant” under the Act is “a person who does or would sell, lease (to), or transfer, either directly or indirectly, consumer goods or services.”  Id. § 28-3901(a)(3).  The Act defines “goods and services” as “any and all parts of the economic output of society, at any stage or related or necessary point in the economic process,” including “consumer credit, franchises, business opportunities, real estate transactions, and consumer services of all types.”  Id. § 28-3901(a)(7).  The DCCPPA prohibits “unlawful trade practices” and imposes liability for such practices “whether or not any consumer is in fact misled, deceived or damaged thereby.”  Id. § 28-3904.  The following acts, among others, constitute unlawful trade practices: 1) “misrepresent[ation] as to a material fact which has a tendency to mislead”; 2) “fail[ure] to state a material fact if such failure tends to mislead”; 3) to “sell consumer goods in a condition or manner not consistent with that warranted by . . . operation or requirement of federal law”; 4) to “make or enforce unconscionable terms or provisions of sales or leases.”  Id. § 28-3904 (e), (f), (r), (x).  In applying the “unconscionable terms” provision, the court shall consider, among other factors, whether the merchant “has knowingly taken advantage of the inability of the consumer reasonably to protect his interests by reasons of age, physical or mental infirmities, ignorance, illiteracy, or inability to understand the language of the agreement, or similar factors.”  Id. § 28-3904(r)(5).
STATEMENT OF FACTS

28.
Bates Street Townhomes is a series of single-family and multi-family townhouses located in Northwest Washington, DC.  The owner and HUD executed a Housing Assistance Payment (HAP) Contract for the provision of project-based Section 8 assistance to all 37 townhouses or apartments.  Although the original term of the project-based HAP contract has expired, it was renewed on a short-term basis until the owner decided to end participation in the project-based Section 8 program.  

29.
On or about September 30, 2003 and October 8, 2003, Defendant provided Plaintiffs and the other Section 8 residents at the Bates Street Townhomes with two letters purporting to give them a one-year notice of his decision to terminate the Section 8 HAP contract effective September 30, 2004.    

30.
 Upon information and belief, despite the HAP contract termination on September 30, 2004, Defendant continues to this date to receive subsidy payments under a short-term extended project-based Section 8 contract.  Upon information and belief, it is the practice of HUD to provide short-term extensions of terminating project-based Section 8 contracts so as to allow for subsidy payments to owners during the period of time in which tenants are seeking to place their vouchers.

31.
In August of 2004, the DC Housing Authority (“DCHA”), the local PHA, convened a meeting for the Section 8 residents to discuss the process of converting their project-based subsidy to the tenant-based voucher program.  DCHA, which administers the tenant-based voucher program, gave residents information about the opt out process and their opportunity to obtain, through DCHA, tenant-based vouchers which they could use either to remain at the Bates Street Townhomes or to move elsewhere.  Defendant’s agent was present at this meeting and gave no indication at that time that Defendant would not accept Section 8 enhanced vouchers for those residents wishing to remain.

32.
On or about September 7, 2004, DCHA issued Plaintiff Feemster a tenant-based enhanced voucher.  Prior to such issuance, she was screened for eligibility for the voucher.  The voucher expires on November 7, 2004, giving Plaintiff 60 days to locate housing.

33.
In September 2004, Plaintiff Feemster contacted Defendant’s agent and asked to use her voucher to continue to reside in her townhouse.  She was told orally that Defendant would not accept her voucher and that she would be required to vacate her home.  

34.
On or about September 3, 2004, counsel for Plaintiffs notified the Defendant that pursuant to the laws of the United States and the District of Columbia, it is required to accept the enhanced vouchers for all residents of Bates Street Townhomes, including the Plaintiffs.  Counsel for Defendant responded in writing, denying that Defendant was refusing the tenants’ vouchers.
35.
On or about September 24, 2004, Plaintiff Feemster left a voicemail message for Defendant, indicating again that she planned to use her voucher to remain in her Bates Street home and requesting that Defendant advise her as to the steps she needed to take in order to do so.

36.
On or about September 27, 2004, Defendant sent a letter to Plaintiff Feemster reiterating that the project-based Section 8 HAP contract was being terminated and stating that “as to the use of any Housing Choice Voucher, BSA will not be signing or executing any lease agreements or lease addenda.”  The letter also indicated that if Defendant wished to remain in the unit, she would be required to pay the full rent charged, currently $1,199.00.  Other residents of the Bates Street Townhomes also received similar or identical letters.

37.  
In late September 2004, Plaintiff Lymore contacted the Defendant requesting information on the process for leasing up once she received her voucher.  She was informed that the Defendant would not be accepting her voucher and that she would be required to vacate her unit.  

38.  
On or about October 1, 2004 Defendant sent a letter to Plaintiff Lymore stating that BSA “will not enter into a new lease” and that if Ms. Lymore intended to reside in the property she must pay $1,086 per month.  

39.
On or about October 7, 2004, counsel for Plaintiffs notified Defendant’s counsel that Defendant was continuing to violate the laws of the United States and the District of Columbia in denying Plaintiff and other residents the right to use their enhanced vouchers.  

40.
On or about October 12, 2004, Defendant’s counsel responded to Plaintiffs’ counsel stating that Defendant would accept any Section 8 voucher so long as it was not required to sign “a new lease or addendum to an existing month to month tenancy.”  

41.
On or about October 15, 2004, Plaintiffs’ counsel responded in writing to the letter from Defendant’s counsel.  Counsel for Plaintiffs notified Defendant’s counsel that: 1) the Section 8 program generally did not require a new lease in order to enter into a voucher contract; but that 2) federal law requires that parties entering into a voucher contract sign a Tenancy Addendum as part of the Housing Assistance Payments Contract and that Defendant’s refusal to enter into this addendum constitutes a de facto rejection of Plaintiff’s Section 8 voucher.  

42.  
On October 15, 2004, DCHA issued a tenant-based enhanced voucher to Plaintiff Lymore.  The voucher expires on December 15, 2004.  

43. 
Plaintiff Feemster has lived in a four-bedroom unit at the Bates Street Townhomes for the past five years.  She fears that Defendant’s actions will leave her and her family homeless and believes that she has no choice but to look for another home.  To date, Plaintiff Feemster has not succeeded in finding housing suitable for her family.  She has expended significant time, energy, and resources in her search for alternative housing and has found the process intimidating, stressful, and degrading.
44.
 Plaintiff Lymore has lived in a four-bedroom unit at the Bates Street Townhomes for the past 11 ½ years.  She has already suffered extreme anxiety related to the possibility of losing her home at the Bates Street Townhomes.  If forced to look for alternate housing, Plaintiff Lymore will be required to take off work to complete her search.
45.
As a result of Defendant’s actions described above, Plaintiffs have suffered, are continuing to suffer, and will in the future suffer actual and compensatory injuries, including but not limited to a deprivation of their right to equal housing opportunities regardless of source of income and a deprivation of their right to the housing of their choice regardless of source of income, as well as economic loss, humiliation, embarrassment, and emotional distress.   
46.
At all relevant times herein, Plaintiffs were low-income families within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1437a and Plaintiffs are eligible in all other respects for assistance under the enhanced voucher program.  

47.
Defendant continues to refuse to accept the vouchers or take the steps necessary to accept the vouchers issued to Plaintiffs and other Section 8 tenants to allow them to remain in their units at the Bates Street Townhomes with enhanced voucher assistance.

48.
At all relevant times, the rent amounts for Plaintiffs’ units, as stated in Defendant’s letters of September 27, 2004 and October 1, 2004 to Plaintiff Feemster and Plaintiff Lymore respectively, were below the payment standard or rent ceiling set by DCHA.  See DCHA, Resolution 03-32, Approval to Amend the Housing Choice Voucher Program Payment Standard Schedule, Dec. 10, 2003 (stating that the applicable payment standard for a four-bedroom unit is $2202.00).
49.
Defendant has interfered with Plaintiffs’ efforts to obtain and use enhanced voucher subsidies at the Bates Street Townhomes.

50.
Defendant’s actions threaten Plaintiffs with imminent injury, including eviction and displacement from their homes, fear, and anxiety about losing their homes, and the severing of or interference with personal, family, and community ties.  Plaintiffs’ interests are adversely affected by Defendant’s actions as complained of herein.

51.
Defendant’s actions will cause injury for which there is no adequate remedy at law.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of United States Housing Act and Multifamily Assisted Housing Reform and Affordability Act of 1997 (as amended)
(42 U.S.C. § 1437f, 42 U.S.C. § 1437f note (Multifamily Housing Assistance))

52.
Plaintiffs incorporate each and every allegation in the preceding paragraphs numbered 1 through 51 as if fully set forth herein.

53.
By refusing to accept the Plaintiffs’ enhanced vouchers, Defendant landlord has violated Plaintiffs’ rights under the Multifamily Assisted Housing Reform and Affordability Act of 1997 as amended, § 524(d) (codified at 42 U.S.C. § 1437f note (Multifamily Housing Assistance)), and the United States Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. 
§ 1437f(t).

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of National Housing Act

(12 U.S.C. § 1715z)

54.
Plaintiffs incorporate each and every allegation in the preceding paragraphs numbered 1 through 53 as if fully set forth herein.

55.
By refusing to accept vouchers or take the steps necessary to enable Plaintiffs to use their vouchers at the Bates Street Townhomes, Defendant has interfered with Plaintiffs’ efforts to obtain rent subsidies at the Bates Street Townhomes in violation of the National Housing Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1715z-1b(b)(2).

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of DC Human Rights Act

(D.C. Code § 2-1402.21)

56.
Plaintiffs incorporate each and every allegation in the preceding paragraphs numbered 1 through 55 as if fully set forth herein.

57.
By refusing to accept vouchers or take the steps necessary to enable Plaintiffs to use their vouchers at the Bates Street Townhomes, Defendant is discriminating against Plaintiffs in violation of the DC Human Rights Act, D.C. Code § 2-1402.21.

58.
Defendant’s policy and/or practice of refusing to rent to Plaintiffs and other residents of the Bates Street Townhomes based on voucher status constitutes discrimination based on the actual or perceived source of income of Plaintiffs. See D.C. Code § 2-1402.21.

59.
Source of income includes gains from federal payments, such as vouchers. See D.C. Code § 42-2851.05 et seq.; see also D.C. Code § 2-1402.02.  

60.
Defendant’s policy and/or practice of discriminating against voucher holders, including the Plaintiffs, constitutes an illegal refusal, failure to initiate, or failure to conduct a transaction in real property based on source of income in violation of D.C. Code § 2-1402.21.  Defendant’s policy constitutes an illegal refusal to initiate or conduct a transaction in real property based on source of income in violation of D.C. Code 
§ 1402.21.  

61.
As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiffs have suffered damages.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Violation of DC Consumer Protection Procedures Act

(D.C. Code § 28-3901 et seq.)
62.
Plaintiffs incorporate each and every allegation in the preceding paragraphs numbered 1 through 61 as if fully set forth herein.
63.
Plaintiffs are “consumers,” Defendant is a “merchant,” Plaintiffs’ rental agreements with Defendant constitute an item of “consumer goods and services” and Defendant’s acts with respect to Plaintiffs’ effort to remain at their Bates Street homes using their vouchers constitute “trade practices” within the meaning of the foregoing provisions of the DCCPPA.

64.
Defendant has engaged in “unlawful trade practices” by misrepresenting Plaintiffs’ right to remain in their homes using a voucher, in a manner that had a tendency to and did mislead Plaintiffs regarding their rights; by leasing Plaintiffs units in a  manner that is not consistent with the requirements of federal law; and by attempting unconscionably to enforce the terms of Plaintiffs’ rental agreement by asking that Ms. Feemster and Ms. Lymore pay the full contract rent on the unit as a condition of remaining after the expiration of the project-based Section 8 contract.
FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Declaratory Judgment Act

(28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202)

65.
Plaintiffs incorporate each and every allegation contained in the preceding paragraphs numbered 1 through 64 as if fully set forth herein.

66.
An actual controversy exists between Plaintiffs and Defendant.  Plaintiffs contend that Defendant is acting in violation of federal and state law by refusing to permit them to remain in their unit using an enhanced voucher.  Defendant contends in all respects to the contrary.

67.
Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law for Defendant’s unlawful acts and will suffer irreparable harm if injunctive and declaratory relief is not granted.

68.
Plaintiffs seek injunctive and declaratory relief as set forth in the prayer below.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs pray that this court:

1. Enter a declaratory judgment that:

a. the actions and omissions of the Defendants as set forth in the First through Fourth Causes of Action violate the United States Housing Act, 42 U.S.C. 
§§ 1437 et seq.; the National Housing Act, 12 U.S.C. § 1701 et seq.; the DC Human Rights Act, D.C. Code § 2-1402.21; and the DC Consumer Protection Procedures Act, D.C. Code § 28-3901 et seq.;

b. that Defendant must accept Plaintiffs’ enhanced vouchers, including complying with all rules and requirements of the voucher program, and allow Plaintiffs to remain in their respective units.

2. Enter a temporary restraining order and preliminary and permanent injunction:

a. enjoining the Defendant from refusing to accept the enhanced vouchers of Plaintiffs at the Bates Street Townhomes, for as long as Congress appropriates funds for enhanced vouchers for tenants in expiring Section 8 projects and to the extent each such tenant complies with the lease and the property remains rental property;

b.
enjoining the Defendant from refusing to complete any requirements necessary to enter into a tenant-based voucher contract with the DC Housing Authority on Plaintiffs’ behalf; 
c.
enjoining Defendant from evicting Plaintiffs from their units at the Bates Street Townhomes on any ground related to or arising from Defendant’s refusal to accept Plaintiffs’ enhanced vouchers or any other impermissible grounds;

3. Award Plaintiffs compensatory damages in an amount that would fully compensate the Plaintiffs for the deprivation of their right to equal housing opportunities regardless of source of income and deprivation of their right to the housing of their choice regardless of source of income, as well as for the economic loss, humiliation, embarrassment, and emotional distress, that has been caused by the conduct of the Defendant as alleged herein.
4. Award Plaintiffs treble their actual damages or $1,500 per violation of the D.C. Consumer Protection Procedures Act, whichever is greater, in accordance with the D.C. Consumer Protection Procedures Act, 28-3905(k)(1)(A).
5. Award Plaintiffs punitive damages as authorized by D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(1)(C);
6. Award Plaintiffs their costs incurred herein; 

7. Award Plaintiffs reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs as authorized by D.C. Code §§ 2-1403.16(b), 2-1403.13(a) and D.C. Code § 28-3905(k)(1)(B); and

8. Grant Plaintiffs such other and further relief as the court deems just and proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

The Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury of all issues so triable as of right.
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